Introduction 

The Community Bill of Rights is a citizen's initiative that would 

amend the City of Spokane's Home Rule Charter to provide greater 

protections for City residents, workers, and the natural environment. In 

response to a pre-election challenge filed by business interests seeking to 

remove the initiative from the ballot, the trial court struck the duly 

qualified Community Bill of Rights from the November 2013 ballot. 

The trial court's reasoning dramatically expanded the scope of 

judicial review for pre-election initiative challenges. Washington law 

generally bars substantive challenges to the validity of an initiative, yet the 

trial court rested its opinion almost entirely on the ways in which the 

initiative could theoretically be preempted by state or federal law after its 

adoption. 

This Court must reject this dramatic expansion of the scope of 

pre-election judicial review of citizen's initiatives. 

Assignments of Error 

The trial court erred in granting declaratory judgment voiding all 

substantive provisions of the Community Bill of Rights, and in enjoining 

the entire Community Bill of Rights from appearing on the ballot. RP 

42:19-46:10,46:25-47:5. The substantive text of the Community Bill of 

Rights is included in the Statement of the Case, below. The issues 
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pertaining to these errors are: 

1. Should initiative provisions recognizing the rights of 

neighborhood residents to approve large-scale development that deviates 

from City plans be struck in a pre-election challenge when the provisions 

apply to actions that have not been legislatively delegated to the governing 

body? (Argument § LA) 

2. Should initiative provisions recognizing the rights of 

neighborhood residents, and heightened protections for the natural 

environment, be struck in a pre-election challenge when the provisions are 

legislative, creating new law of general applicability? (Argument § LB) 

3. Should initiative provisions recognizing heightened 

environmental protections, workplace rights, and enforcement 

mechanisms within the city be struck in a pre-election challenge when the 

provisions do not attempt to wield state or federal powers? (Argument 

§ I.C) 

4. Should the initiative be immune from pre-election challenge 

because it broadens the civil, political, and environmental rights of the 

Spokane community within the City's boundary, and the authority to 

expand those rights beyond the floor of state and federal law is an inherent 

power of both the municipal government and the people of the City of 

Spokane? (Argument §§ II, III) 
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5. Should private party challengers have standing to pursue 

injunctive relief in a pre-election challenge even though they will not 

suffer actual and substantial damages caused by the mere appearance of 

the initiative on the ballot? (Argument § V) 

Statement of the Case 

In 2012 and 2013, Envision Spokane (an organization composed 

of City residents active in neighborhood, labor, and environmental 

groups), seeking "to build a healthy, sustainable, and democratic Spokane 

through the recognition of the rights of neighborhoods, the natural 

environment, and workers," CP Ill, collected over 5,000 petition 

signatures to place the Community Bill of Rights initiative on the ballot. 

CP 40-41, 100-12. In May 2013, the Spokane City Council unanimously 

adopted a resolution requesting the Spokane County Auditor 

to hold a special election on November 5, 2013 in 
conjunction with the scheduled general election for the 
purpose of submitting to the voters of the City of Spokane 
for their approval or rejection the following proposition to 
amend the City Charter: 

CITY OF SPOKANE 

PROPOSITION NO.1 


A CITY CHARTER AMENDMENT 

ESTABLISHING A COMMUNITY BILL OF RIGHTS 


Shall the City Charter be amended to add a Community Bill 
of Rights, which secures the right of neighborhood 
residents to approve re-zoning proposed for major new 
development, recognizes the right of neighborhood 
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residents to reject development which violates the City 
Charter or the City's Comprehensive Plan, expands 
protections for the Spokane River and Spokane Valley
Rathdrum Prairie Aquifer, provides constitutional 
protections in the workplace, and elevates Charter rights 
above rights claimed by the corporation [ s]? 

CP 108-09. The substantive portions of the Community Bill of Rights are 

reproduced below. The full initiative, including recitals and boilerplate, is 

at CP 112. 

A CITY CHARTER AMENDMENT ESTABLISHING 
A COMMUNITY BILL OF RIGHTS 

Section 1. A new section be added to the beginning of the 
Charter of the City of Spokane, which shall be known as 
the "Community Bill of Rights," and which provides as 
follows: 

[Neighborhood Rights provisions:] First. Neighborhood 
Residents Have the Right to Determine Major 
Development in Their Neighborhoods. 

Neighborhood majorities shall have the right to approve 
all zoning changes proposed for their neighborhood 
involving major commercial, industrial, or residential 
development. Neighborhood majorities shall mean the 
majority of registered voters residing in an official city 
neighborhood who voted in the last general election. 
Proposed commercial or industrial development shall be 
deemed major if it exceeds ten thousand square feet, and 
proposed residential development shall be deemed major if 
it exceeds twenty units and its construction is not tlnanced 
by governmental funds allocated for low-income housing. 
It shall be the responsibility of the proposer of the zoning 

change to acquire the approval of the neighborhood 
majority, and the zoning change shall not be effective 
without it. Neighborhood majorities shall also have a right 
to reject major commercial, industrial, or residential 
development which is incompatible with the provisions of 
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the City's Comprehensive Plan or this Charter. 
Approval of a zoning change or rejection of proposed 

development under this section shall become effective upon 
the submission of a petition to the City containing the valid 
signatures of neighborhood majorities approving the zoning 
change or rejecting the proposed development, in a petition 
generally conforming to the referendum provision of the 
Spokane municipal code. 

[Environmental Rights provisions:] Second. The Right to 
a Healthy Spokane River and Aquifer. 

The Spokane River, its tributaries, and the Spokane 
Valley-Rathdrum Prairie Aquifer possess fundamental and 
inalienable rights to exist and flourish, which shall include 
the right to sustainable recharge, flows sufficient to protect 
native fish habitat, and clean water. All residents of 
Spokane possess fundamental and inalienable rights to 
sustainably access, use, consume, and preserve water drawn 
from natural cycles that provide water necessary to sustain 
life within the City. The City of Spokane, and any resident 
of the City or group of residents, have standing to enforce 
and protect these rights. 

[Workplace Rights provisions:] Third, Employees Have 
the Right to Constitutional Protections in the 
Workplace. 

Employees shall possess United States and Washington 
Bill of Rights' constitutional protections in every workplace 
within the City of Spokane, and workers in unionized 
workplaces shall possess the right to collective bargaining. 

[Remedy provision:] Fourth, Corporate Powers Shall be 
Subordinate to People's Rights. 

Corporations and other business entities which violate the 
rights secured by this Charter shall not be deemed to be 
"persons," nor possess any other legal rights, privileges, 
powers, or protections which would interfere with the 
enforcement of rights enumerated by this Charter. 
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In June 2013, Respondents ("Challengers") filed a complaint 

seeking a declaratory judgment voiding the initiative, and an injunction 

removing it from the ballot. CP 5-34. The Spokane County Superior 

Court ("trial court") ruled against all provisions of the Community Bill of 

Rights in an August 2013 hearing, declaring them "invalid as outside of 

the scope of legislative - of initiative power," and directing the auditor not 

to include the initiative on the ballot. RP 42: 19-47:5; see also RP 47:6

47:23 (discussing confonning the Order to the court's oral ruling). 

Envisions Spokane appeals this ruling. 

Argument 

Under established Washington law, judicial pre-election review of 

a citizen's initiative is narrow. It only examines whether the initiative 

seeks to exercise a power that has been legislatively-delegated to the local 

legislative body, or whether the initiative is legislative in nature. It 

explicitly bars an examination of whether the initiative is constitutional or 

otherwise legal- inquiries that must wait until after the initiative is 

adopted. 

Here, the trial court refused to properly apply that settled law, 

which the initiative satisfies. Instead, the Challengers encouraged the 

court to apply a broad pre-election review, one that considered the 

initiative as if it were already enacted. The trial court accepted that 
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invitation, anchoring its opinion on the assertion that the initiative was 

preempted by state and federal law. The trial court also misapplied the 

established pre-election challenge rules.! 

Even assuming that the trial court applied the proper standard, 

local governments,2 especially home rule governments, may - using their 

inherent powers as governments recognize broader rights (and 

restrictions that protect those rights) than provided by state or federal law, 

as long as those rights are limited by the boundaries of the municipality. 

Finally, the people of the City of Spokane may choose to exercise 

greater powers than those currently claimed by their elected local 

government officials, by virtue of their constitutionally-guaranteed right to 

local self-government. When the people assert their self-government right 

to protect health, safety, and welfare, through the expansion of rights, their 

lawmaking (a vote of the citizenry) cannot be preempted. 

This Court reviews the trial court's legal decision de novo, giving no 
deference to the trial court's legal determination voiding the initiative. 
See Cedar River Water & Sewer Dist. v. King Cnty., 178 Wn.2d 763, 
777, _ P.3d (2013) (citations omitted). 

2 	 "Local governments" in this brief means general purpose local 
governments, like cities, not special purpose local governments, like 
fire districts. 
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I. 	 The Community Bill of Rights initiative is a legislative measure 
that does not interfere with state-delegated authority, and other 
assertions of substantive invalidity cannot serve as grounds for 
removal of the initiative from the ballot. 

In any pre-election challenge, all doubts must be resolved in 

favor of an initiative's validity. "[T]he burden is on the challenger of an 

initiative proposal to show that the people's legislative authority to 

effectuate charter amendments is restricted." Maleng v. King Cnty. Corr. 

Guild, 150 Wn.2d 325, 334, 76 P.3d 727 (2003). That stringent test is 

applied to protect the sanctity of the direct lawmaking process. "[T]he 

right of initiative is nearly as old as our constitution itself, deeply 

ingrained in our state's history, and widely revered as a powerful check 

and balance on the other branches of government. Accordingly, this 

potent vestige of our progressive era past must be vigilantly protected by 

our courts." Coppernoll v. Reed, 155 Wn.2d 290, 296-97, 119 P.3d 318 

(2005) (citation omitted); see also State ex rei. Mullen v. Howell, 107 

Wash. 167, 170-72, 181 P. 920 (1919)(refusing "a rule of strict 

construction [that would apply against the people's referenda power, 

because] the power of the whole people is in question"). 

Thus, it is the judiciary'S duty to not block proposed law unless 

an initiative interferes with state legislative delegation of authority, or 

proposes something that is not legislative in nature. Judicial restraint 
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demands this.3 Separation of powers demands this.4 

The trial court voided the Community Bill ofRights provisions 

using both of those exceptions, in addition to creating a dramatic new 

expansion ofjudicial authority to examine the substantive validity of an 

initiative prior to an election. Specifically, the trial court applied that new 

rule to examine whether the local Bill of Rights could theoretically be 

preempted by state or federal law after approval by the voters. 

The court did not strike every initiative section under every 

theory, as shown below, where X indicates the ground upon which the 

court removed the provision: 

3 	 "Importantly, the relevant limitations [to local government authority] 
arise as much from narrow state judicial construction as from clear 
textual command. The texts of home rule grants contain a variety of 
ambiguities that state courts are free to interpret. The resulting 
interpretations may reflect judges' particular political ideologies and 
their hostility to certain forms of governmental regulation of private 
property. Alternatively, they might reflect a more general judicial 
uneasiness with creative local action and a corresponding preference 
for uniformity." David J. Barron, Reclaiming Home Rule, 116 HARV. 

L. REv. 2257,2347-48 (2003). 
4 	 "An unbounded view of property rights would relegate to the courts 

nearly all disputes over the propriety of a police-power regulation. 
This is precisely why the courts should be reluctant to allow 
property-rights absolutists to 'constitutionalize' the line of demarcation 
between property rights and police power. Public-policy disputes 
should remain in the popular branches of government." Justice Philip 
A. Talmadge, The Myth ofProperty Absolutism and Modern 
Government: The Interaction ofPolice Power and Property Rights, 75 
WASH. L. REV. 857, 859-60 (2000). 
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• 


Comm unity Bill of 
Rights section: 

delegation to 
legislative 

body 

administrative 
in nature 

"state or 
federal 

preemption" 

1. Neighborhood Rights x x 

2. Environmental Rights x x 

3. Workplace Rights x 

4. Remedy provision 
subordinating corporate 
violators' rights 

x 

The trial court removed the first two sections of the initiative by 

misapplying the established narrow exceptions to pre-election review, and 

then proceeded to undertake an inquiry of the substantive validity of the 

initiative. In doing so, the trial court erroneously removed all provisions 

of the initiative from the ballot. 

A. 	 The initiative's Neighborhood Rights provision does not 
interfere with powers legislatively delegated to the local 
legislative body because it operates independently of the 
requirements of the Growth Management Act. 

"An initiative is beyond the scope of the initiative power if the 

initiative involves powers granted by the legislature to the governing body 

of a city, rather than the city itself." City o/Sequim v. Malkasian, 157 

Wn.2d 251, 261, 138 P.3d 943 (2006) (citations omitted). 

Unique to local initiatives, this rule arises when a statute grants 

authority to the legislative body of the local government rather than the 
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local government itself. See Philip A. Trautman, Initiative and 

Referendum in Washington: A Survey, 49 WASH. L. REv. 55,82-83 (1973) 

(citations omitted). "If the grant of power is to the city as a corporate 

entity, direct legislation is permissible insofar as the statute is concerned. 

On the other hand, if the grant of power is to the legislative authority of 

the city, the initiative and referendum are prohibited." Id. at 83 (citations 

omitted); see also, e.g., Snohomish Cnty v. Anderson, 123 Wn.2d 151, 

153-56, 868 P.2d 116 (1994) (holding that a citizen's referendum could not 

be used to repeal a countywide planning policy, because the state statute 

mandating the policy ordered the "legislative authority" of the county to 

draft and adopt itV 

5 	 Despite this rule's focus on the text of state legislation, two more 
recent cases, Brisbane and 1000 Friends, encourage a court to look 
beyond the text in order to restrict the delegation ofauthority to the 
"legislative authority," and thus deny the people the tools of 
referendum and initiative even when the statute's text does not. 
Whatcom Cnty v. Brisbane, 125 Wn.2d 345, 349, 884 P.2d 1326 
(1994) (reasoning that "[u]nder the Growth Management Act, RCW 
36.70A, the Legislature used the words 'county' or 'city' 
interchangeably with the words 'legislative body' of the county or city. 
Thus, the power to act under the Growth Management Act was 
delegated to the 'county legislative body"'); 1000 Friends of 
Washington v. McFarland, 159 Wn.2d 165, 175-76,149 P.3d 616 
(2006) (deriding "laser focus on the words 'legislative authority,'" and 
endorsing courts "glean[ing the legislative intent] from the statutory 
schema as a whole"); see also, for criticism ofthis expansion, 
Brisbane, 125 Wn.2d at 356-57, 884 P.2d 1326 (Madsen, J. 
dissenting); Trautman, Initiative, supra, at 83. Because Brisbane and 
1000 Friends dramatically flip this pre-election challenge rule on its 
head, with dire consequences for local direct democracy, courts should 
view these cases as limited to their facts. Specifically, these cases hold 
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Here, the initiative seeks to give residents of Spokane 

neighborhoods the ability to approve zoning changes necessary for 

large-scale developments. In the trial court, the Challengers sought to 

portray this approval authority as interfering with the mandates of the 

Growth Management Act ("GMA"). However, while there may be some 

overlap in specific situations, this neighborhood approval provision 

operates independently of GMA requirements. 

Zoning is an independent police power inherent in cities, and 

thus, does not rely on state delegation for validity. Village ofEuclid v. 

Ambler Realty Co., 272 U.S. 365, 47 S. Ct. 114,71 L. Ed. 303 (1926). 

The potential for conflict between the neighborhood rights provision and 

the GMA only occurs if amendments made to the City'S Comprehensive 

Plan require parallel zoning changes to maintain consistency with the Plan 

as required by RCW 36.70A.130(d). Other zoning changes within the 

City operate independently of the concurrency requirement, and thus, do 

not interfere with the operation of state-delegated authority through the 

GMA. For example, rezones to other uses already allowed under the 

existing Comprehensive Plan, conditional use permits, and variances, are 

all zoning actions that can occur without triggering the procedures (and 

that referenda are invalid when used to override a local legislative 
body's state-mandated actions under the Growth Management Act. 
Outside of this specific context, the express textual rule which 
existed for over eighty years prior to Bisbane - must control. 
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thus the possible delegated authority) in the GMA. The initiative 

provisions may thus be validly applied in circumstances where the power 

has not been delegated.6 The court must interpret the initiative to be in 

harmony with the GMA: the initiative provides additional protections to 

the residents of Spokane, it does not limit the GMA's authority or 

purpose.7 The neighborhood rights provision cannot be struck from the 

6 	 The City of Spokane is one of only two cities in the state that has 
chosen to maximize the scope of the people's power over actions of the 
municipal body. CITY OF SPOKANE CHARTER art. I, § 4 ("All power of 
the City, unless otherwise provided in this Charter, shall be exercised 
by the mayor and city council in a strong-mayor form of government. 
They shall be subject to the control and direction of the people at all 
times by the initiative, referendum, and recall provided for in this 
Charter."); see also CHARTER OF THE CITY OF BREMERTON art. I, § 5. 
In addition, several of the planning statutes at issue use the permissive 
"may." E.g., RCW 35.63.080,35.63.100. There is no concern about 
the local government failing to fulfill its state creature function when 
the "duty" is actually discretionary. It follows that a permissive statute 
that delegates authority should not automatically remove the people's 
direct democracy power, especially when the local government charter 
has expressed intent to maximize the people's power, as in Spokane. 

7 The initiative's purpose is clearly to support the City's Comprehensive 
Plan, not work against it. The preamble to the initiative declares: 

Whereas, the people of the City of Spokane have adopted a 
Comprehensive Plan for the City of Spokane, which 
envisions the building of a healthy, sustainable, and 
democratic community, but the people recognize that the 
Comprehensive Plan is not legally enforceable in many 
important respects; 
Whereas, the people of the City of Spokane wish to create a 
Community Bill of Rights which would, among other 
goals, establish legally enforceable rights and duties to 
implement the vision laid out in the Comprehensive Plan .. 

CP 112. The Comprehensive Plan's vision, meanwhile, is supported by 
the decision-making right created in the initiative: "Growth will be 
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ballot simply because it might later be argued that it applies in a way that 

creates a conflict with the state's planning law.s 

B. 	 The Community Bill of Rights initiative is legislative, not 
administrative. 

Article II, Section I, of the Washington Constitution reserves the 

authority for citizen initiatives. Courts have declared that the initiative 

power must be used to propose legislative measures, rather than 

administrative ones. 

'''Actions relating to subjects of a permanent and general

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