#### NO. 318877

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

en old being de la commentation de la commentation

#### ENVISION SPOKANE,

Appellant,

v.

SPOKANE ENTREPRENEURIAL CENTER, SPOKANE COUNTY, DOWNTOWN SPOKANE PARTNERSHIP, GREATER SPOKANE INCORPORATED, THE SPOKANE BUILDING OWNERS AND MANAGERS ASSOCIATION, SPOKANE ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS, THE SPOKANE HOME BUILDERS ASSOCIATION, THE INLAND PACIFIC CHAPTER OF ASSOCIATED BUILDERS AND CONTRACTORS, AVISTA CORPORATION, PEARSON PACKAGING SYSTEMS, WILLIAM BUTLER, NEIL MULLER, STEVE SALVATORI, NANCY MCLAUGHLIN, MICHAEL ALLEN, and TOM POWER

	Respondents.
BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> For the same reason "[i]t is simply not within Washington's power to enact federal law." *Philadelphia II*, 128 Wn.2d at 720.

outside a city's jurisdiction to act because a city may not legislate on subjects beyond its geographic borders. *See* Spokane City Charter art. I, § 2 (defining City's boundaries); Wash. Const. art. XI, § 11 ("Any county, city, town or township may make and enforce *within its limits* all such local police, sanitary and other regulations as are not in conflict with general laws." (emphasis added)); *City of Spokane v. Coon*, 3 Wn.2d 243, 346 (1940) ("Under art. XI, § 11, of our state constitution, cities of the first class enjoy the same police power *within their borders* as does the state itself." (emphasis added)).

The river and aquifer provision conflicts with this fundamental concept of the structure of government and exceeds the limitations of Spokane's legislative power in the following ways.

First, Envision's river and aquifer provision exceeds the City's authority to enact legislation because it attempts to confer a private right of action on Spokane residents to enforce rights that extend beyond the City's (and the State's) geographic boundaries. CP 112. The City cannot enact laws regulating the conduct or rights of citizens or property of another state, such as Idaho (from which the affected river waters originate and under which a significant portion of the aquifer resides). See Spokane City Charter art. I, § 2 (defining City's boundaries).

**Second**, the river and aquifer rights provision conflicts with federal and state law by attempting to create "fundamental and inalienable" rights in rivers and residents, and by creating a private right of action for

Spokane residents to enforce those rights. CP 112. To the extent Envision is attempting to confer constitutional rights on waterways, it is plainly outside the scope of the local initiative power to amend the constitution. *Ford*, 79 Wn.2d at 156.

To the extent Envision seeks to confer some lesser right, the initiative still exceeds the scope of the local initiative power because, as discussed below, those rights conflict with existing federal and state statutory rights and regulations.

"[A] local regulation conflicts with a statute when it permits what is forbidden by state law or prohibits what state law permits." *Parkland Light & Water Co. v. Tacoma-Pierce Cnty. Bd. of Health*, 151 Wn.2d 428, 433 (2004) (invalidating board resolution that irreconcilably conflicted with statutory authority granted to water districts) (citation omitted). Here, Envision's initiative conflicts with at least three statutory schemes governing the Spokane River and Aquifer.

The federal Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1362(7), requires "each state [to] establish, subject to federal approval, comprehensive water quality standards." *Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1, of Pend Oreille Cnty. v. State, Dep't of Ecology*, 146 Wn.2d 778, 806 (2002). The Act provides a limited right of actions by citizens for violations of any "effluent standard or limitation." 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a). The Washington State Department of Ecology "is the designated state agency for purposes of securing the benefits of and meeting the requirements of the Clean Water Act." *Pend* 

Oreille Cnty., 146 Wn.2d at 807 (citing RCW 90.48.260). It must establish water quality standards, "taking into consideration their use and value for public water supplies, propagation of fish and wildlife, recreational," and other purposes." *Id.* at 806-807 (quoting 33 U.S.C. § 1313(c)(2)(A)). The Department has therefore "promulgated comprehensive, specific water quality standards for regulating state navigable waters, …." *Id.* at 807. The EPA has "reviewed and approved" these regulations, as the Act requires. *Id.* at 808.<sup>11</sup>

Similarly, the State of Washington, which has "[t]he power ... to regulate and control the waters within it," has enacted a comprehensive scheme regulating water rights and uses. RCW 90.03.010 *et. seq.* Among other things, Washington's water rights statute gives the Department of Ecology the authority to "establish minimum water flows or levels for streams, lakes or other public waters," to regulate "underground waters," to promulgate regulations implementing its water laws, to enforce such laws, and "to develop and implement ... a comprehensive state water resources program." *See* RCW 90.22.020; RCW 90.48.030, .035, .037, .140; RCW 90.54.040.

In addition, the GMA requires that local legislative bodies "plan their growth, protect the environment, protect the property rights of individuals, and designate and protect 'critical areas." 1000 Friends, 159

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The federal Safe Drinking Water Act also governs the Aquifer, as a "sole source" drinking water supply. 42 U.S.C. § 300f *et seq*. This means all federally assisted projects must use aquifer protection measures. *Id*.

Wn.2d at 169 (citing RCW 36.70A.020, .060; WAC 365-190-040); see also Yes for Seattle, 122 Wn. App. at 389 (GMA requires local legislative bodies to "develop comprehensive growth plans and development regulations to meet the comprehensive goals"). The GMA defines "development regulations" as "controls placed on development or land use activities by a county or city, including, but not limited to ... critical areas." Yes for Seattle, 122 Wn. App. at 389 (quoting RCW 36.70A.030(7)). And the GMA defines "critical areas" as including "wetlands, areas that recharge aquifers used for potable water, fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas, areas that are frequently flooded, and areas that are geologically hazardous." 1000 Friends, 159 Wn.2d at 169 (citing RCW 36.70A.030(5)). Thus, federal and state law comprehensively govern and regulate the Spokane River, its tributaries, and the Spokane Valley-Rathdrum Aquifer.

Yet the river and aquifer rights provision creates a private right of action, and fundamental and inalienable rights in rivers and residents, that do not exist under federal or state law. CP 112. So, under the initiative, a Spokane resident could sue Spokane County or another organization or individual that uses the Spokane River or aquifer for affecting water levels or for uses that the Clean Water Act or Washington's water law permit. See id. (seeking to establish on behalf of rivers the "right to sustainable recharge, flows sufficient to protect native fish habitat, and clean water"). As a result, the river and aquifer rights section irreconcilably conflicts

with federal and state law, and the Court properly invalidated it. *See, e.g.*, *Seattle Bldg. & Constr. Trades Council*, 94 Wn.2d at 747 (initiatives may not conflict with state law); *Yes for Seattle*, 122 Wn. App. at 388 (invalidating initiative that conflicted with GMA). *Int'l Paper Co. v. Ouellette*, 479 U.S. 481, 493-94 (1987) (Clean Water Act preempted state nuisance law to the extent the law sought to impose liability on an out-of-state point source because it interfered with the Act's method of eliminating water pollution).

Envision contends that the water provision is within the local initiative power because it "emphasize[s] an environmental protection policy" and does not attempt to control the actions of the Department of Ecology, or usurp its authority to regulate water rights." Opening Br. at 24. That is, Envision offers its assurances that the citizens who might sue to enforce the rights its initiative creates will share a common goal with the EPA and Washington's Department of Ecology. But Envision's assurance that the rights its initiative tries to create will be exercised towards the same ends as state and federal law does not help its case. "A state law is pre-empted if it interferes with the methods by which the federal statute was designed to reach" the common goal. *Ouellette*, 479 U.S. at 494. Envision's water rights provision does exactly that. It interferes with an existing and complex federal and state water regulatory regime which is an act beyond the power of the City.

### b. The River and Aquifer Rights Provision is Administrative in Nature.

The river and aquifer rights provision is administrative in nature because it seeks to regulate waterways that the Clean Water Act, state water code, and GMA already govern. *See infra* § C.2.a. As with the zoning provision, the water rights provision intrudes on existing regulatory regimes and is, therefore, administrative in nature and not a proper subject for a local initiative.

The GMA, for instance, requires local legislative bodies to "adopt development regulations that *protect* critical areas that are required to be designated" under the Act, which include "areas critical to recharging aquifers used for potable water" and "areas used for fish and wildlife habitat conservation." 1000 Friends, 159 Wn.2d at 183. Envision's initiative thus seeks to legislate in areas within the GMA's scope. See id. (holding referendum regarding ordinances regulating surface water flows and clearing and grading fell within GMA's scope). By creating "fundamental and inalienable rights" in rivers and residents, Envision's initiative also "explicitly seek[s] to administer the details" of Spokane's water system, which the Clean Water Act and Washington's water laws govern. See Our Water-Our Choice!, 170 Wn.2d at 13. The initiative therefore impermissibly treads on administrative matters. See id. at 13-14 (initiatives attempting to reverse city fluoridation program were administrative); 1000 Friends, 159 Wn.2d at 185 (surface water and clearing and grading initiatives "passed pursuant to the GMA's

requirement that critical areas be designated and protected ... implement state policy and are not subject to local referenda").

Envision does not dispute that these federal and state laws govern Spokane's water resources. Instead, Envision argues only that the provision is not administrative because it "expands and broadens rights within the City boundaries consistent with the state policy protection of surface and ground water." Opening Br. at 24. As with its argument concerning zoning, Envision misses the issue. The legislative-administrative distinction does not turn on whether an initiative creates a new right for some people—after all, that is what most laws do. Rather, an initiative is administrative if it "furthers (or hinders) a plan the local government or some power superior to it has previously adopted." *Our Water-Our Choice!*, 170 Wn.2d at 10.

While the parties may disagree as to whether the proposed water rights provision "expands" rights or reduces them, the purported new rights fall within the pre-existing regulatory framework discussed above. To the extent these rights change anything, they change how those regulations are implemented and enforced. In other words, the provision "pursues a plan already adopted by the legislative body itself [i.e., the Spokane City Council], or some power superior to it [the Spokane County Commissioners]." *See Leonard*, 87 Wn.2d at 850.

c. The River and Aquifer Rights Provision Involves Areas Exclusively Delegated to Local Legislative Bodies.

The GMA delegates to city councils and county commissions—not cities or counties themselves or the electorate—the authority and obligation to develop comprehensive growth plans, which affect water drawn from aguifers. 12 RCW 35.63.110; RCW 36.70A.210(2); 1000 Friends, 159 Wn.2d at 169. The City Council and County Commission here have enacted comprehensive plans. Despite the GMA's delegation to local legislative bodies, and despite the City Council's and County Commissioner's comprehensive plans, the Envision initiative gives Spokane residents the "right to sustainably access, use, consume and preserve water drawn from natural cycles that provide water necessary to sustain life within the City." CP 112. But, as discussed above with respect to the zoning provision, the Washington Supreme Court has held initiatives attempting to enact or amend GMA regulations infringe on duties delegated to local legislative bodies and thus, exceed the local initiative power. See 1000 Friends, 159 Wn.2d at 174. Indeed, cases addressing water regulation uniformly hold such regulation is beyond the scope of the local initiative power for this precise reason. See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> As discussed above, water rights and water quality are the subject of complex federal and state laws. Most regulation of water rights and quality are reserved by the federal and state governments, without delegation to local governments. For example, the Washington Department of Ecology administers the state's water quality program under the supervision of the federal EPA, all pursuant to the federal Clean Water Act. Local governments have no authority to set water quality standards, such as for end-of-pipe dischargers. The City, therefore, lacks the authority to enact laws concerning most aspects of water rights and water quality. The GMA, however, does permit city councils and county legislative authorities to develop comprehensive growth plans, which affect water drawn from Washington. As discussed above, such authority has been delegated to the legislative bodies, not the electorate, and is not a proper subject for local initiative.

(ordinances enacted under GMA governing wetlands, aquatic areas, and storm water not subject to referendum); *Yes for Seattle*, 122 Wn. App. at 388-89 (creek restoration initiative beyond local initiative power).

Envision wastes little space defending the water provision. In a footnote, Envision claims the provision does not impermissibly tread on legislative delegations under state and federal water regulations because "[t]he legislature has made no express delegation of power limiting the people's authority to recognize environmental rights or the human right to water .... There is no statute limiting authority to create the rights in the third section of the Community Bill of Rights specifically to the local legislative body." Opening Br. at 14 n.8.

But as discussed above, the question is not whether the legislature expressly "limited the people's authority." Rather, the Court should determine whether considering "the entirety of the statutory schema established by the legislature"; "the state legislature instruct[ed] a local governmental body to implement state policy, the power and duty is vested in the legislative (or executive entity), not the municipality as a 'corporate' entity." *1000 Friends*, 159 Wn. 2d at 182, 174.

### 3. The Workplace Provision Conflicts with Federal and State Law.

Envision's workplace provision exceeds the scope of the local initiative power because it conflicts with federal and state labor laws or otherwise enacts laws outside of the City's legislative authority. The trial court correctly invalidated the provision for the following reasons.

First, the trial court correctly determined the workplace provision runs afoul of state and federal law by attempting to "redefine and expand labor rights in the City of Spokane." The federal National Labor Relations Act, 29 U.S.C. §§ 151-69, and the state Public Employees' Collective Bargaining Act, RCW 41.56 et seq., govern collective bargaining rights in private sector and public sector workplaces, respectively. The NLRA's reach is broad. The statutory scheme "preempts a state law claim that is based on conduct arguably subject to sections 7 or 8 of the Act." Kilb v. First Student Transp., LLC, 157 Wn. App. 280, 285 (2010). "Section 7 of the Act guarantees the right of employees to organize and collectively bargain," while "Section 8 prohibits employer interference with employees engaging in activities protected under section 7." Id. (citing 29 U.S.C. §§ 157, 158(a)(1)). Because Congress has, through the NLRA, exercised its power to preempt private sector employee collective bargaining claims, Envision may not seek to use the local initiative process to enact legislation that purports to grant a municipal right to collective bargaining.

Likewise, because the Public Employees' Collective Bargaining Act does not mandate collective bargaining, the provision conflicts with Washington law by providing a mandatory collective bargaining right. The Court should affirm the trial court's ruling on this basis. *See Seattle Bldg. & Constr. Trades Council*, 94 Wn.2d at 747.

Envision contends that the workplace provision does not conflict

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